IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-1271

MICHAEL ALLEN GRIFFIN,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TERRI L. BACKHUS Florida Bar No. 0946427 Backhus & Izakowitz, P.A. 13014 N. Dale Mabry, #746 Tampa, FL 33618 (813) 269-7604

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Citations in this brief to designate references to the records, followed by the appropriate page number, are as follows:

"R. ____" - Record on direct appeal to this Court from the 1986 trial;

"PC-R. ____" - Record on appeal to this Court from the Rule 3.851 proceedings in which an evidentiary hearing was conducted in 1992;

"PC-R2. ____" - Record on appeal to this Court from the Rule 3.851 proceedings in the instant appeal SC11-1271.

All other citations will be self-explanatory or will otherwise be explained.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Mr. Griffin has been sentenced to death. This appeal raises the issue of whether Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009), qualifies as new Florida law under Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980), and whether it requires this Court to revisit Mr. Griffin's ineffective assistance of counsel claims from 2003. Griffin v. State, 866 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 2003). In instances in which the U.S. Supreme Court found that this Court had failed to properly understand, construe, and apply federal constitutional law in a Florida capital case, this Court has not only granted oral argument to consider whether the new U.S. Supreme Court decision qualified under Witt, but after hearing oral argument

has found that the decisions did qualify under Witt as new law. See Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), which was found to qualify as new Florida law under Witt in Thompson v. Dugger, 515 So. 2d 173 (Fla. 1987); and Espinosa v. Florida, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992), which was found to qualify as new Florida law under Witt in James v. State, 615 So. 2d 668 (Fla. 1993).

The resolution of the issues involved in this action will determine whether Mr. Griffin lives or dies, and whether his ineffective assistance of counsel claims were properly analyzed by this Court when it misconstrued the Strickland prejudice prong standard and gave too much deference to rulings made by the judge presiding at a post-conviction evidentiary hearing. This Court allowed oral argument in other capital cases in a similar procedural posture. A full opportunity to air the issues through oral argument would be appropriate given the seriousness of the claims involved and the stakes at issue. Mr. Griffin urges that the Court permit oral argument.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This appeal consist of two parts: the first is the determination of whether *Porter* must be applied retroactively. That issue is a question of law and must be reviewed *de novo*. See Thompson v. Dugger, 515 So. 2d 173, 175 (Fla. 1987) ("We hold we are required by this *Hitchcock* decision to re-examine this matter as a new issue of law"); James v. State, 615 So. 2d 668,

669 (Fla. 1993) (Espinosa to be applied retroactively to Mr. James because "it would not be fair to deprive him of the Espinosa ruling"). The second is the application of Porter to Mr. Griffin's case. In that regard, deference is given only to historical facts. All other facts must be viewed in relation to how Mr. Griffin's jury would have viewed those facts. See Porter v. McCollum, 130 S.Ct. 447 (2009).

INTRODUCTION

On November 30, 2009, the U.S. Supreme Court issued its decision in Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009); and ruled that this Court's Strickland analysis which appeared in Porter v. State, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001), was an unreasonable application of our clearly established law. Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. at 455. Under the Anti-Terrorism Effective Death Penalty Act (AEDPA), the U.S. Supreme Court was required to give deference to this Court's application of Strickland. It could not grant habeas relief from a state court judgment merely because it disagreed with the state court's application of federal constitutional law. Specifically, habeas relief could only be issued to George Porter if this Court's Strickland analysis was not just wrong, but clearly and unreasonably wrong. It is in this context that the U.S. Supreme Court's ruling in Porter v. McCollum must be read.

Though $Porter\ v.\ McCollum$ specifically dealt with an ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel claim, the defect in this Court's Strickland analysis that was identified by the

On November 29, 2010, Mr. Griffin filed the Rule 3.851 that is the subject of this appeal (PC-R. 34-64). In that motion, Mr. Griffin relied upon *Porter v. McCollum* and argued that it qualified under *Witt v. State*, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980) as new law which warranted revisiting Mr. Griffin's previously presented *Strickland* claims.

²Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

U.S. Supreme Court is equally applicable to guilt phase ineffective assistance of counsel claims and the materiality prong of *Brady* claims. This Court has made clear that its prejudice prong analysis of a guilt phase ineffective assistance claim and its materiality prong analysis under *Brady* are indistinguishable from each other.

In Rivera v. State, 995 So. 2d 191, 205 (Fla. 2008), this Court recognized that "the materiality prong of Brady has been equated with the Strickland prejudice prong." Accordingly, an analysis of the Strickland prejudice prong precluded the need to perform an identical analysis for the materiality prong of Brady and vice-a-versa. See Derrick v. State, 983 So. 2d 443 (Fla. In United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667 (1985), the U.S. Supreme Court expressly adopted the Strickland prejudice prong standard, i.e. "reasonable probability of a different outcome", as the standard to be used when conducting the materiality analysis of undisclosed favorable information in Brady cases. Thus, the U.S. Supreme Court's rejection in Porter of this Court's Strickland prejudice prong analysis as too deferential to the lower court considering a penalty phase ineffectiveness claim applies equally where this Court has been overly deferential to a lower's court rejection of quilt phase ineffective assistance

³Brady v, Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

claims.

Mr. Griffin's current appeal requires this Court to look at the importance of *Porter v. McCollum* in the context of his ineffective assistance of counsel claims. This Court must consider whether its own defective analysis in *Porter v. State* was merely an aberration limited solely to the penalty phase ineffectiveness claim in that case or whether it is indicative of this Court's systemic failure to properly understand and apply *Strickland*. 4

In Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), the U.S.

Supreme Court granted federal habeas relief because this Court had failed to properly apply Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1978). It failed to find Eighth Amendment error when a capital jury was not advised that it could and should consider non-statutory mitigating circumstances while deliberating the propriety of a death sentence. 5 The other case finding that

The question that must be addressed is whether the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Porter* represents a fundamental repudiation of this Court's *Strickland* jurisprudence, and as such *Porter* constitutes a change in law as explained herein, which renders Mr. Griffin's *Porter* claim cognizable in Rule 3.851 proceedings. *See Witt v. State*, 387 So. 2d 922, 925 (Fla. 1980) (a change in law can be raised in postconviction if it: "(a) emanates from this Court or the United States Supreme Court, (b) is constitutional in nature, and (c) constitutes a development of fundamental significance . . .") *Id*. at 931.

⁵The AEDPA was not in effect at the time of the decision in *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, so there was no need for the U.S. Supreme Court to determine that this Court's decision was clearly or

this Court had failed to properly apply federal constitutional law was *Espinosa v. Florida*, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992). There, the U.S. Supreme Court summarily reversed a decision by this Court which found that *Maynard v. Cartwright*, 486 U.S. 356 (1988), was not applicable in Florida because the jury's verdict in a Florida capital penalty phase proceedings was merely advisory. 6

Following the decisions in Hitchcock v. Dugger and Espinosa v. Florida, this Court was called upon to address whether other death-sentenced individuals whose death sentences had also been affirmed by this Court due to the same misapprehension of federal law should arbitrarily be denied the benefit of the proper construction and application of federal constitutional law. On both occasions, this Court determined that fairness dictated that those who had not received the benefit of the proper application of federal constitutional law, should be allowed to re-present their claims and have those claims judged under the proper constitutional standards. See Thompson v. Dugger, 515 So. 2d 173, 175 (Fla. 1987) ("We hold we are required by this Hitchcock

unreasonably wrong. The U.S. Supreme Court's review in *Hitchcock* was *de novo*.

⁶The decision by the U.S. Supreme Court in *Espinosa v*. *Florida* was in the course of direct review of this Court's decision affirming a death sentence on direct appeal. The U.S. Supreme Court's decision was not through the prism of federal habeas review, and thus the U.S. Supreme Court employed *de novo* review.

decision to re-examine this matter as a new issue of law"); James v. State, 615 So. 2d 668, 669 (Fla. 1993) (Espinosa to be applied retroactively to Mr. James because "it would not be fair to deprive him of the Espinosa ruling").

Mr. Griffin, whose ineffective assistance of counsel claims were heard and decided by this Court before Porter v. McCollum, seeks what George Porter received. Mr. Griffin seeks to have his ineffectiveness claims re-evaluated using the proper Strickland standard that U.S. Supreme Court applied in Mr. Porter's case to find resentencing is warranted. Mr. Griffin seeks the benefit of the same rule of law that was applied to Mr. Porter's ineffective assistance of counsel claims. Mr. Griffin seeks the proper application of the Strickland standard. Mr. Griffin seeks to be treated equally and fairly.

⁷When Mr. Porter's case was returned to the circuit court for a resentencing, a life sentence was imposed.





STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 2, 1990, Mr. Griffin and co-defendants Nicholas

Tarallo and Samuel Velez were charged with first-degree murder with a firearm, aggravated assault, armed burglary, two counts of grand theft and petit theft⁸ in Dade County. Andrew Kassier represented Mr. Griffin as the public defender had conflicted off the case. Though he had previously worked on first-degree murder cases in which death was sought during his time at the public defender's office, Mr. Griffin's case was the first where Kassier had personally handled a penalty phase proceeding (T. V. 4, 793-96; 854).9

On January 30, 1991, Mr. Griffin and Velez were tried jointly before separate juries. 10 Kassier chose not to have cocounsel as another attorney would have cut into his fees and reduced the amount of money he would make on the case (PC-R. 854-855). Kassier retained Dr. Mary Haber as his mental health expert and investigator Al Fuentes with whom he'd never worked

⁸Mr. Griffin was also charged with felon in possession of a firearm. Subsequently, the State dismissed the aggravated assault charge and refiled it as an attempted first-degree murder.

⁹At the time of the September 2000 evidentiary hearing, Kassier had been suspended from the practice of law since 1997 (PC-R 833).

¹⁰Tarallo pled guilty to second-degree murder, attempted first-degree murder, burglary and two counts of grand theft and received a 30-year sentence to testify against Mr. Griffin.

(PC-R. 802; 856). Fuentes was instructed to gather materials for Dr. Haber to review for mitigation. He only gathered school records (PC-R. 804). He did not provide police reports or depositions or gather records other than school records (PC-R. 848-851). Dr. Haber conducted no family member interview except one brief conversation with Mr. Griffin's father. *Id.* Kassier only had one conversation with Dr. Haber regarding her testing and did not recall receiving any written reports from her (PC-R. 849-850).

On February 11, 1991, two days before sentencing, Dr. Haber provided a three-page summary of her conclusions that there was no mitigating evidence (RT. V. 4, 806). Kassier did not call Dr. Haber at sentencing.

After speaking with Mr. Griffin's father, Clarence Thomas "Tommy" Griffin, Kassier decided not to contact or interview any other potential mitigation witnesses because Thomas felt they would not be helpful. The only family member witness contacted or called at penalty phase was Tommy Griffin, Michael's father (PC-R. 4, 810-11). Tommy Griffin did not admit to the jury that he had physically and emotionally abused and neglected Michael. 11

¹¹Tommy Griffin's testimony consisted of one or two word answers with no detail and no acknowledgment of his responsibility for his son's problems. For example, he testified that when Michael was 6 or 8 months old he was hospitalized because he wasn't being taken care of properly (RT. 3642-43). In post-conviction, it was revealed that Michael had been hospitalized at 2 months because he had been a victim of severe

He did not admit that his father, Michael's grandfather, had sexually abused his grandchildren.

During the State's case, it introduced testimony from codefendant Nicholas Tarallo that on April 27, 1990, the three men drove Griffin's father's Cadillac to the location of a white Chrysler LeBaron where they switched cars. Once in the LeBaron, they searched for an appropriate target for a burglary. They ended up at a Holiday Inn where they entered a hotel room and stole a cell phone and purse. While Tarallo drove, Velez and Griffin divided the proceeds.

As the three left the Holiday Inn and were returning to the Cadillac, a police car began following them. Griffin panicked and told Tarallo to speed up. After a failed attempt to evade the police, Tarallo pulled over. As he got out, Griffin began shooting, killing one officer. After an exchange of gunfire, Tarallo and Velez exited the vehicle and surrendered to the officer. Griffin fled in the LeBaron and was eventually apprehended. Cf. Griffin v. McNeil, 667 F. Supp. 2d 1340 (2009).

neglect by his father. Kassier later conceded in post-conviction that if he had evidence that the father had a drinking problem, sexually abused and hit Michael that information would have been helpful to the defense (PC-R. 4, 866).

On February 8, 1991, the jury found Mr. Griffin guilty of first-degree murder of a law enforcement officer; attempted first-degree murder of a law enforcement officer; armed burglary; and two counts of grand theft and petit theft. 12

Five days later, the penalty phase began. The jury recommended a death sentence by a vote of 10 to 2 that same day. On March 7, 1991, the judge imposed a death sentence for the murder charge, life imprisonment for the attempted murder; and five years for grand theft to run concurrently. The court found four aggravating circumstances: 1) a prior violent felony (for the contemporaneous attempted first-degree murder); 2) crime was committed during the commission of a burglary; 3) avoid arrest and 4) cold, calculated and premeditated. In mitigation, the trial court found Mr. Griffin was 20 at the time of the offense; that he had shown remorse; that he had a traumatic childhood; and had a learning disability.

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed even though the trial court had restricted the introduction of non-statutory mitigating evidence of remorse to the jury. *Griffin v. State*, 639 So. 2d 966 (Fla. 1994). Certiorari review was denied by the U.S. Supreme Court on March 6, 1995. *Griffin v. Florida*, 115 S. Ct. 13176 (1995).

¹²Co-defendant Samuel Velez received a life sentence. Tarallo pled guilty and received a 30-year sentence in exchange for testifying against his co-defendants.

Mr. Griffin filed a shell post-conviction motion on March 19, 1997. On October 29, 1998, Mr. Griffin filed an amended post-conviction motion and a second amended motion on December 10, 1999 raising 31 claims. On May 5, 2000, the trial court summarily denied all but two claims—ineffective assistance of counsel at penalty phase and allegations that the trial judge had failed to independently weigh the sentencing phase evidence by having the State prepare the sentencing order and trial counsel's ineffectiveness for failing to object to the State's preparation of the order. After a September, 2000 evidentiary hearing, the court denied those two claims.

On September 25, 2003, this Court affirmed the denial of Mr. Griffin's post-conviction motions. *Griffin v. State*, 866 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 2003). This Court conducted no prejudice analysis at all regarding Mr. Griffin's ineffective assistance of counsel claims other than citing to *Strickland* and *Stephens v. State*, 748 So. 2d 1028, 1033 (Fla. 1999). *Griffin v. State*, 866 So. 2d at 14. The mandate issued on March 1, 2004. Certiorari review was denied on November 1, 2004. *Griffin v. Florida*, 543 U.S. 962 (2004).

While the denial of the first post-conviction motion appeal was pending, Mr. Griffin's former state-appointed attorney filed a second post-conviction motion on June 20, 2003. The trial court dismissed the motion because it no longer had jurisdiction,

and that state-appointed counsel no longer represented Mr. Griffin on June 3, 2004 as he had retained counsel. Mr. Griffin filed a *pro se* notice of appeal on the denial of the second post-conviction motion on June 24, 2004.

This Court affirmed the dismissal of the motion, but granted Mr. Griffin leave to re-file the motion in circuit court with proper counsel.

Mr. Griffin re-filed his second post-conviction motion on February 21, 2005 in Dade County which contained two grounds for relief.

New counsel substituted in on March 7, 2005 and filed a third post-conviction motion raising three grounds for relief. The trial court struck the third claim which left the two original claims from the June 20, 2003 motion intact but granted leave to amend. A series of hearings were held but counsel was not properly noticed. In the absence of Mr. Griffin or his counsel, the trial court denied the claims.

On July 19, 2006, the trial court vacated its previous order finding that Mr. Griffin had not been properly noticed. On July 20, 2006, the trial court entered a new order denying the post-conviction claims. Mr. Griffin's motion for rehearing was denied on August 7, 2006 and rendered on August 9, 2006. On September 1, 2006, Mr. Griffin filed notice of appeal of the denial of his second post-conviction motion.

On May 8, 2006, Mr. Griffin filed a petition for belated appeal of the second post-conviction motion. This Court granted the petition and treated it as a December 1, 2006 notice of appeal. On June 2, 2008, this Court affirmed the denial of the second post-conviction motion. *Griffin v. State*, 992 So. 2d 819 (Fla. 2008). Rehearing was denied on September 3, 2008.

A Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus was filed in federal district court on October 8, 2008 and an amended petition was filed on April 3, 2009. The petition was denied on October 15, 2009. A Petition for Certificate of Appealability was filed and denied in the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals. A Motion for Rehearing on the denial of the Certificate of Appealability was also denied. The time for filing a petition for certiorari review by the U.S. Supreme Court is currently pending.

During the pendency of Mr. Griffin's federal habeas proceeding, he filed a motion with this Court to invoke its "All Writs" jurisdiction raising four claims of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. The petition was denied on November 2, 2009. Griffin v. McCollum, SC08-2179.

A third post-conviction motion based on claims pursuant to Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009) was filed on November 29, 2010 by Mr. Griffin's federal habeas counsel, Martin J. McClain. The State objected to the appointment of Mr. McClain for the state court proceedings and undersigned counsel was appointed as registry counsel on February 7, 2011. Despite trial counsel's objections that she had not had sufficient time to learn Mr. Griffin's complex case, the trial court scheduled a Huff hearing on May 10,2011 (PC-R3. 106). The trial court summarily denied Mr. Griffin's claims on May 20, 2011. Id.

Timely notice of appeal was filed to this Court on June 17, 2011.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A wealth of favorable mitigating evidence was not heard by Mr. Griffin's jury because defense counsel unreasonably failed to discover and present the evidence. This was the focus of his post-conviction motion.

On appeal, this Court deferred completely to the circuit court's rulings on every issue and conducted no prejudice analysis. *Griffin v. State*, 866 So. 2d at 14. This Court failed to engage in the proper cumulative analysis of the specific mitigating evidence not heard by the jury. This Court failed to consider how reasonably effective defense counsel would have used the evidence and how the jury may have viewed the evidence. In fact, the Court's analysis consisted of three sentences.

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