IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-1271

MICHAEL ALLEN GRIFFIN,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,
CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0012068
Office of the Attorney General
Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 650
444 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131
PH. (305) 377-5441
FAX (305) 377-5655

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

However, Defendant concedes that Porter did not overrule or alter any portion of Strickland. Initial Brief at 21. By making this concession, Defendant has agreed that the Court did not portion of Strickland. Since this overrule this Court's precedent on the standard of review is entirely consistent with this portion of Strickland, Defendant has conceded that the Court did not overrule this Court's precedent. His attempt to argue to the contrary is specious. The lower court properly determined that Porter did not change the law and that the motion was time barred as a result. It should be affirmed.

Even if Defendant were to attempt to take back his

concession and argue that the Court had overruled Strickland's requirement of deference to factual findings made in the course of resolving claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, the lower court would still have properly found the law has not changed. In Porter, the Court never mentioned this portion of Strickland and made no suggestion that it was improper for a reviewing court to defer to factual findings made in resolving an ineffective assistance claim. Porter, 130 S. Ct. at 448-56. Instead, it characterized the opinion of the state trial court and this Court as having found there was no statutory mitigation established and there was no prejudice from the failure to present nonstatutory mitigation. Id. at 451. Under the standard of review mandated by Strickland and followed by this Court, the first of these findings was a factual finding but the second was not. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 698. Rather than determining that this Court's factual finding was not binding, the Court seems to have accepted it and found this Court had acted unreasonably by not making factual findings about nonstatutory mental health mitigation and making an unreasonable conclusion on the mixed question of fact and law regarding prejudice. Id. at 454-56. Thus, to find that *Porter* overruled *Stephens* and its progeny, this Court would have to find that the United States Supreme Court overruled itself sub silencio in a case where the Court

appears to have applied the allegedly overruled law. However, this Court is not even empowered to make such a finding, as this Court has itself recognized. Rodriguez de Quijas v. Shearson/American Express, 490 U.S. 477, 484 (1989); Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So. 2d 693, 694 (Fla. 2002). Thus, the lower court properly determined that Porter did not change the law, that Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B) did not apply and that the motion was time barred. It should be affirmed.

Similarly, Defendant's reliance on Sears v. Upton, 130 S. Ct. 3259 (2010), also is misplaced. In Sears, the Georgia postconviction court found trial counsel's performance deficient under Strickland but then stated that it was unable to assess whether counsel's inadequate investigation might have prejudiced Sears. Id. at 3261. In Sears, the United States Supreme Court did not find that it was improper for a trial court to make factual findings in ruling on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel or for a reviewing court to defer to those findings. Instead, the Supreme Court reversed because it did not believe that the lower courts had made findings about the evidence Thus, Sears does not presented. *Id.* at 3261. support the assertion that the making of findings or giving deference in reviewing findings is inappropriate.

Defendant also seems to suggest that Porter requires a

court to grant relief on an ineffective assistance of counsel based solely on a finding that some evidence to support prejudice was presented at a post conviction hearing regardless of what mitigation was presented at trial, how incredible the new evidence was, how much negative information the new evidence would have caused to be presented at trial or how aggravated the case was. However, *Porter* itself states that this is not the standard for assessing prejudice. Instead, the Court stated that determining prejudice required a court to "consider 'the totality of the available mitigation evidence-both that adduced at trial, and the evidence adduced in the habeas proceeding' - and "reweig[h] it against the evidence in aggravation." *Porter*, 130 S. Ct. at 453-54 (quoting *Williams*, 529 U.S. at 397-98).

Moreover, in Wong v. Belmontes, 130 S. Ct. 383, 386-91 (2009), the Court reversed the Ninth Circuit for finding prejudice by ignoring the mitigation evidence already presented, the cumulative nature of the new evidence, the negative information that would have been presented had the new evidence been presented and the aggravated nature of the crime. The Court noted that this error was probably caused by the Ninth Circuit's failure to require that the defendant meet his burden of affirmatively proving prejudice. Id. at 390-91. Similarly in Bobby v. Van Hook, 130 S. Ct. 13, 19-20 (2009), the Court

reversed the Sixth Circuit for finding prejudice without considering the mitigation already presented at trial, the cumulative nature of the evidence presented in post conviction and the aggravated nature of the crime.

Given what Porter actually says about proving prejudice and Belmontes and Van Hook, Defendant's suggestion that Porter requires a finding of prejudice anytime a defendant presents some evidence at a post conviction hearing is simply false. Porter did not change the law requiring that a defendant actually prove there is a reasonable probability of a different result. Since Porter did not change the law, the lower court properly determined that this motion was time barred and should be affirmed.

Even if Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B) did apply to this situation and *Porter* had changed the law, the lower court would still have properly denied the motion because *Porter* would not apply retroactively. As Defendant admits, the determination of whether a change in law is retroactive is controlled by *Witt v. State*, 387 So. 2d 922, 931 (Fla. 1980). As Defendant also properly acknowledges, to obtain retroactive application of the law under *Witt*, he was required to show: (1) the change in law emanated from this Court or the United States Supreme Court; (2) was constitutional in nature; and (3) was of fundamental

significance. Id. at 929-30. To meet the third element of this test, the change in law must (1) "place beyond the authority of the state the power to regulate certain conduct or impose certain penalties; or (2) be of "sufficient magnitude to necessitate retroactive application as ascertained by the three-fold test of Stovall and Linkletter." Id. at 929. Application of that three prong test requires consideration of the purpose served by the new case; the extent of reliance on the old law; and the effect on the administration of justice from retroactive application. Ferguson v. State, 789 So. 2d 306, 311 (Fla. 2001).

Here, Defendant did not attempt to show that the change in law he alleged was made in *Porter* met the *Witt* standard in his motion for post conviction relief or at the *Huff* hearing. (PCR3. 34-64, 136-17) Instead, he simply suggested that because this Court had found that *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), constituted a retroactive change in law, the lower court should find that *Porter* was also retroactive. *Id*. Given Defendant's failure to address the *Witt* factors, the lower court properly determined that Defendant had not shown that he was entitled to retroactive application of the alleged change in law in *Porter*. It should be affirmed.

This is particularly true since Defendant did not suggest that *Hitchcock* and *Porter* were alike in ways that actually were

relevant to a Witt analysis. Instead, he compared them based on the stage of the proceedings at which the error was found and the manner in which the United States Supreme Court issued its opinion. However, when one considers the difference in the errors found in those cases and the relationship between those errors and the Witt standard, the lower court was correct in rejecting this argument.

In Hitchcock, 481 U.S. at 398-99, the Court found that the giving of a jury instruction that told the jury not to consider nonstatutory mitigation was improper. As such, the purpose of finding this error was to permit a jury to consider evidence the defendant had a constitutional right to have considered. Moreover, because the jury instruction was only given in the penalty phase and could only have harmed a defendant if he was sentenced to death, the number of cases in which there had been an error that would need retroactive correction was limited. Further, because jury instruction, the in а error was determining whether that error occurred in a particular case was simple. All one needed to do was review the jury instructions that had been given in a particular case to see if it was the offending instruction. Courts were not required to comb through stale records looking for errors. See State v. Glenn, 558 So. 2d 4, 8 (Fla. 1990) (refusing to apply Carawan v. State, 515 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1987), retroactively). Thus, the purpose of the new rule, extent of reliance on the old rule and effect on the administration of justice in *Hitchcock* militated in favor of retroactivity.

In contrast, Porter involved nothing more than determining that this Court had unreasonably applied a correctly stated rule of law to the facts of a particular case, as noted above. Thus, the purpose of Porter was nothing more than to correct an error in the application of the law to the facts of a particular case. Moreover, as the lower court found, Florida courts have extensively relied on the standard of review from Strickland that this Court recognized in Stephens and the effect on the administration of justice from applying the alleged change in law in Porter retroactively would be to bring the courts of Florida to a screeching halt as they combed through stale records to re-evaluate the merits of every claim of ineffective assistance of counsel that had ever been denied in Florida.

Given these stark difference in the analysis of the changes in law in *Porter* and *Hitchcock* and their relationship to the *Witt* factors, the lower court properly determined that the alleged change in law from *Porter* would not be retroactive under *Witt* even if it had occurred. In fact, the more apt analogy regarding a change in law would be the change in law that this

Court recognized in Stephens itself, as both changes in law concerned the same legal issue. However, making that analogy merely shows that the lower court was correct to deny this motion. In Johnston v. Moore, 789 So. 2d 262 (Fla. 2001), this Court held the change in law in Stephens was not retroactive under Witt. Given the facts that Porter would fail the Witt test if it had changed the law and that this Court has already determined that changing the law regarding the standard of review for ineffective assistance of counsel claims does not meet Witt, the lower court properly determined that any change in law that Porter might have made would not be retroactive. Thus, it properly found that this motion was time barred and should be affirmed.

In belated attempt to show that the alleged change in law here meets Witt, Defendant compares the alleged change from Porter to the change in law in Espinosa v. Florida, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992). However, this comparison is even more flawed that the comparison to Hitchcock. As was true of Hitchcock, the error in Espinosa concerned a jury instruction given at the penalty phase. Espinosa, 505 U.S. at 1080-81. As the United States Supreme Court has held, the Constitution only imposes two requirements on a capital sentencing scheme: (1) that it limit the class of death-eligible individuals, and (2) that it allow

individualized consideration of mitigation. *Kansas v. Marsh*, 548 U.S. 163, 173-74 (2006). Thus, as was true in *Hitchcock*, the purpose of *Espinosa* was to correct an error in one of those requirements.

Further, the class of cases in which application of Espinosa was available was even more limited than in Hitchcock. In James v. State, 615 So. 2d 668, 669 (Fla. 1993), this Court limited retroactive application of Espinosa to those cases in which the defendant had objected to instruction at trial and raised the issue on direct appeal. Thus, the class of eligible cases was not only limited to those cases in which the offending jury instruction was given and the defendant was sentenced to death but also to those cases in which the issue had been pursue previously. Given limitation on the class of eligible cases and the ease with which a determination of whether the error had occurred and whether the defendant was eligible for correction could be made, the extent of reliance on the old rule and the effect on the administration of justice limited and were retroactivity.

Again, the purpose of *Porter* was nothing more than to correct an error in the application of the correct law to the facts of a particular case. Moreover, as the lower court found,

Florida courts have extensively relied on the standard of review from Strickland that this Court recognized in Stephens and the effect on the administration of justice from applying the alleged change in law in Porter retroactively would be to bring the courts of Florida to a screeching halt as they combed through stale records to re-evaluate the merits of every claim of ineffective assistance of counsel that had ever been denied in Florida. Thus, Defendant's attempt to analogize the change in law that he alleges was made in Porter to the change of law in Espinosa is even less apt than his comparison to Hitchcock. The lower court properly determined that the Witt standard would not be met had Porter changed the law. It should be affirmed.

Moreover, it should be remembered that this claim is procedurally barred. Defendant is seeking nothing more than to relitigate the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel regarding mitigation that he raised in his first motion for post conviction relief and lost. As this Court has held, such attempts to relitigate claims that have previously been raised and rejected are procedurally barred. See Wright v. State, 857 So. 2d 861, 868 (Fla. 2003). Under the law of the case doctrine, Defendant cannot relitigate a claim that has been denied by the trial court and affirmed by the appellate court. State v. McBride, 848 So. 2d 287, 289-90 (Fla. 2003). It is also well

established that piecemeal litigation of claims of ineffective assistance of counsel is clearly prohibited. *Pope v. State*, 702 So. 2d 221, 223 (Fla. 1997); *Lambrix v. State*, 698 So. 2d 247, 248 (Fla. 1996). Since this is precisely what Defendant is attempting to do here, his claim is barred and was correctly denied. *See Topps v. State*, 865 So. 2d 1253, 1255 (Fla. 2004)(discussing application of res judicata to claims previously litigated on the merits).

In fact, this Court has rejected attempts to relitigate ineffective assistance claims simply because the United States Supreme Court issued opinions indicating that state courts have erred in rejecting claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. Marek v. State, 8 So. 3d 1123 (Fla. 2009). There, the defendant argued that his previously rejected claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase had to be reevaluated under the standards enunciated in Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374 (2005), Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510 (2003), and Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362 (2000), because they had changed the standard of review for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland. This Court decisively rejected the claim, stating "the United States Supreme Court in these cases did not change the standard of review for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland." Marek, 8

So. 3d at 1128. This Court did so even though the United States Supreme Court had found under the AEDPA standard of review that state courts had improperly rejected these claims. Given these circumstance, the claim was barred and was properly denied. The lower court should be affirmed.

Even if Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B) could apply to changes in law regarding existing rights that had yet to be held retroactive, *Porter* had changed the law, the alleged change in law was retroactive and the claim was not procedurally barred, Defendant would still be entitled to no relief. As the Court recognized in *Witt*, a defendant is not entitled to relief based on a change in law, where the change would not affect the disposition of the claim. *Witt*, 387 So. 2d at 930-31. Moreover, as the Court recognized in *Strickland*, there is no reason to address the prejudice prong if a defendant fails to show that his counsel was deficient. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697.

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